STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

COREY ANDREW BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001536

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge erred in allowing identification testimony into evidence that emanated from a suggestive pre-trial out-of-court identification based on a media representation where a store worker identified appellant as the perpetrator in the case because of the likely link between police and state action connected to the media coverage, which in turn meant that the identifications were unreliable and inadmissible at trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Corey Andrew Brown was convicted of first degree assault and battery, kidnapping, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime during the July 2006 term of the Spartanburg County General Sessions Court before Judge R. Keith Kelly. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for an aggregate period of thirty-five years. Paul K. Neely and J. Roger Poole represented appellant at trial and Assistant Solicitor Joe Barnette appeared on behalf of the state.

Appellant appealed his convictions and sentences. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in allowing identification testimony into evidence that emanated from a suggestive pre-trial out-of-court media identification based on a media representation where a store worker identified appellant as the perpetrator in the case because of the likely link between police and state action connected to the media coverage, which in turn meant that the identifications were unreliable and inadmissible at trial.

At trial, Mindy Slotin testified that she was working at her husband's Imagination Store located in downtown Spartanburg on the afternoon on August 7, 2015, when a male and female entered to pay for an item previously selected. Slotin testified that after she answered the male's question about another toy, "the next thing she realize[d] [was that] she was laying on the floor [and] he had a gun pointed at [her] face and he had hit [her] in the head with the gun." Slotin added further that the man duck taped her hands, took her ring, led her to the cash register at gunpoint, made her open the cash register, and then led her into the back storage room where he taped her ankles and then fled. R. 55, l. 9 – R. 60, l. 6. Slotin stated she saw the man who was "duct taping" her and made an in court identification at trial pointing to appellant as the perpetrator in the case. R. 60, l. 18-24; R. 76, l. 10-25.

State's witness Sandra Elaine Pearson testified that she was with appellant inside the store on the date in question and saw appellant put a gun to Slotin's head, and that she witnessed him taping her and leading her to the cash register and then to the storage room before fleeing. R. 85, l. 10 – R. 99, l. 4.

Prior to trial, defense counsel objected to the use of the identifications made by Slotin in the case in effect because it was tainted by "the out of court [media] identification" thereby making it "so unreliable...it would create a substantial likelihood of misidentification." R. 4, l.

16 – R. 4, l. 2. Here, the store owner’s wife, who was the subject of the attack, called the police station after the incident and advised Investigator Kirky that she saw a mug shot of appellant on the local evening news in connection with a report about the case and recognized that the mugshot was a picture of the perpetrator. The picture in question was a photograph of appellant. R. 19, l. 6 – 12; R. 25, l. 13 – R. 26, l. 15. This was problematic because after the crime, Slotin stated that she could only describe the perpetrator’s clothing and height (much taller - not exact height), but not his “eyes” or “nose”. R. 24, l. 11 – R. 25, l. 12. Defense counsel argued that the source of that news report would be from some police action, and that the “Bigger” standard applied in the case. R. 4, l. 3-20; R. 3, l. 16 – 23. Counsel argued that the “crux of [his] argument” was that Slotin’s “[in-court] identification [was] based off the identification that she made when she saw his mugshot on the news” and in effect that the resulting in-court identification was “tainted” and ultimately unreliable. The solicitor argued that there was no governmental involvement connected to the news media report in question and that the media acted alone. R. 5, l. 4 – R. 7, l. 4.

Defense counsel’s response was that this was an ongoing investigation because the incidents occurred on August 7, 2015 and three days later on August 10, 2015, the news received the information from local police (the mugshot) and the story was then aired on television. Counsel argued that the media received the information in the case from law enforcement.

Defense Counsel outlined his objection as follows:

Your Honor, to allow her to sit on that witness stand and point at [appellant] and say that that’s the man that did it, she’s absolutely gonna (sic) be able to just point at the man whose mugshot she saw on tv. At this point, because a law enforcement’s involvement in the identification of [appellant] through that news source, [i.e.] her in-court identification is gonna be so tainted that she’s only gonna [sic] see the man whose mug shot was on that news so to allow her to make an in-court identification based on an unreliable out-of-

court identification would violate [appellant's] due process rights.
R. 9, lines 3 – 13.

The solicitor's response follows:

Your honor...the newspaper always gets their news from law enforcement reports and everything of from mug shots or whatever, they put this information in news. All these cases the police they have to make a case and then it comes out at that point. To argue that the police intentionally did this, this is not intentional from that stand point. R. 9, lines 15-21.

At the in-camera hearing that followed, Mindy Slotin testified as follows:

Q: And you identified, your identification's based on what you see in the courtroom today, is that right ma'am?

A: Absolutely, it's the same guy, there's not a doubt in my mind.

Q: But ya (sic), also saw it's obviously saw his mug shot at some point a couple of days afterwards, is that right, ma'am?

A: I did but the police never, the police...when I saw them said, I told them that I had seen the mug shot, they said well we can't, we're not even gonna (sic) bother askin' you for identification because you just saw a mug shot. R. 19, l. 2 – 12.

Thus, even police officers realized that the error and stated the following:

We can't, we're not even gonna (sic) bother asking you for identification because you just told us you saw a mug shot. R. 19, l. 9 – 12.

Slotin stated that she was extremely upset when this happened on August 7, 2015, and could only identify the perpetrator's height (5'10") and that she left town on August 8, 2015, which meant she did not see any photographic line up, but that she saw the media shot on August 10, 2015, and then saw a name in the paper as to who had been arrested in the case. R. 24, l. 13 – R. 26, l. 15; R. 27, l. 3 – R. 28, l. 2.

At the close of Slotin's testimony, the court found no governmental involvement in the case because of the short period of time in which these events in question occurred and thus

ruled her in-court identification would be admissible at trial. R. 29, l. 25 – R. 31, l. 19; R. 35, l. 3 – R. 36, l. 11.

At trial, Slotin recounted her version of the incident and testified that she “got a very good look at [the perpetrator]” and made an in-court identification pointing to appellant as the perpetrator in the case. R. 60, l. 19 – R. 61, l. 24; R. 76, l. 18 – 25. On cross examination, Slotin admitted in effect that her description of the perpetrator was limited in that it included ethnicity and clothing only. Slotin stated that the perpetrator was 5’10” and 160 lbs and wore blue jeans and a dark shirt. R. 78, l. 19 – R. 79, l. 12. However, initially she gave no height and only described the perpetrator as “taller”. R. 25, l. 1 – 12.

Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony, and further, the purpose of the strict rule regarding the inadmissibility of evidence of unnecessarily suggestive confrontations is to deter the police from using a less reliable procedure where a more reliable one might be available. See State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 527 S.E.2d 389 (2000), citing to Manson v. Braithwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977). For example, single show up identifications or single photograph displays are widely condemned. See Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293 (1967). Even in Tisdale, the Court held that “it is uncontested that the media identifications were suggestive.” In Tisdale, a man robbed a bank on October 24, 1996, and on that same evening, one teller saw a report of the robber’s arrest on television and another teller identified the robber from a photograph she saw in a newspaper article shortly thereafter. However, although the Tisdale Court found that there was no police (or governmental) sources connected to the pre-trial media identifications, the fact that the tellers were 1.) thoroughly examined about their descriptions and 2.) apparently examined about the media reports as they related to their identification, then no due process violation was found to have occurred in the case.

In the case at bar, the solicitor stated that the police did not intentionally give information about this case to the media, and in effect that police have to make their case by giving information to the media. R. 9, l. 15 – 21. The police failed to obtain an identification from Slotin because she called them (the police) about her identification from the media. Also, Slotin was not thoroughly examined by the state or by the defense at trial (as done in Tisdale) about that the out-of-court media representation she viewed and whether or how that influenced her in-court identification. In addition, Slotin's woefully inadequate description of the perpetrator made it a mystery as to how she was able to connect the dots and identify the perpetrator without help from the media identification. For example, Slotin's memory led to a nondescript identification of the perpetrator, which is proved by relevant portions of her testimony below:

Q. Okay. And what was the nature of your contact with law enforcement? Do they ask you for a description? What was your conversation like?

A. The conversation was, if it, uh, if I can remember was basically that store has been robbed and that I had been tied up and hit at gunpoint and at the time I didn't know if the people were still in the store, if they were in the store, I had ran, I'd left the store so, I mean, that was basically what I told 'em initially.

Q. Right, okay.

A. But I describe 'em I think and as the conversation went on they, I could describe what they were wearing, uh, I could describe their ethnicity, I could describe, uh, what the girl's hair looked like 'cause it, uh, she had kind of a unique hairstyle, uh, other than that I really, I think that's about all I could use to describe to them, to the ---

Q. When --- the -- when we get information from the State on a case it's always mostly in the form of writing and I'm asking you as I'm reading a part of the incident report, uh, the male is described as a black male with dark skin approximately 5'10" and 160 pounds, wearing blue jeans and a dark t-shirt, do you remember giving that information to law enforcement?

A. No.

Q. Okay.

A. No. Now I I could maybe ins – in my description he cou – law enforcement could have surmised that that's what because height-wise the best, I don't, I can't judge height, I mean, it's usually like they're this (indicating) much taller than me would be the way I would describe. I don't, I don't know how to judge height, you know, as far as a big person or a medium-size. R. 78, l. 9 – R. 79, l. 21.

In addition, Slotin's pretrial identification testimony proved also that she was unable to give an adequate description in order to assist officers in their investigation. For instance, Slotin's pre-trial testimony regarding this matter follows:

A. Well they wanted to know who who they should look for so, yes, I mean, I I I was able to tell them what the people were wearing at the time, -- ---but, I mean, it's, I was extremely upset and like I said, I remember tellin' 'em what the people were wearing. Uh, the lady had a really funky hair style which at the time so I was aha, it was very memorable but, I mean, I can't describe, I co – I didn't describe eyes or nose or mouth or ---

Q. But you described height.

A. Roughly, roughly. I mean, I'm only 5'2 so I can say he's 'bout this (indicating) much bigger than me I think. I mean, It wasn't – I can't look at so – I'm not, it's like I'm not good at that and I certainly am not good at weight. You know, I can say he wasn't a huge person but I don't know what that means.

Q. You told law enforcement that he was 5 foot 10 the man that did this.

A. I just said he was like this (indicating) much taller than me, that's as high as I can reach.

Q. So you didn't tell 'em that he was 5 foot 10?

A. I did not remember giving them an exact figure.
R. 24, l. 13 – R. 25, l. 12.

Not only were Slotin's identifications tainted and unreliable and thus inadmissible in that they stemmed from media coverage, but also the identifications could begin to pass the Biggers¹ admissibility test.

An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 682 S.E.2d 19 (2009). In determining whether an out-of-court identification can be admitted, a court must ascertain whether the identification process was unduly suggestive and whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972). Moreover when determining the likelihood of misidentification, The Biggers Court listed factors to be used to evaluate reliability under the totality of the circumstances:

- 1.) The witness' opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime;
- 2.) The witness' degree of attention;
- 3.) The accuracy of the witness' prior description of the perpetrator;
- 4.) The level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and
- 5.) The length of time between the crime and the confrontation.