**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001536

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

COREY ANDREW BROWN,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

SEP 14 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

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

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by allowing identification evidence to be introduced during trial. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the identification evidence was unreliable, inadmissible, and violative of his due process rights because it allegedly resulted from a suggestive out-of-court identification that occurred when Victim saw Appellant through media coverage of the armed robbery. To the contrary, the identification evidence was admissible and properly introduced during trial because Victim's out-of-court identification of Appellant was not the product of a governmental identification procedure, which meant Appellant's due process right were not implicated by the evidence's admission. Furthermore, even if Appellant's due process rights had somehow been implicated, the identification evidence was nonetheless properly admitted because it was reliable under the totality of the circumstances in light of the fact Victim had an excellent opportunity to view the perpetrators of the armed robbery, she had a heightened degree of attention due to the startling nature of the events that transpired, nothing established her description of the robbers was inaccurate, she was entirely certain of her identification of Appellant, and she identified Appellant within just a few days of the incident. For those reasons, the trial judge committed no error in admitting the identification evidence during Appellant's trial. Accordingly, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on

the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's ruling on an evidentiary matter absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) ("The appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court."); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) ("A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice."); see also State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) ("[D]eference is due to the trial court's admission of the evidence."). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

### ANALYSIS

When evidence of an eyewitness identification is introduced during a criminal trial, a defendant may be deprived of due process of law if that identification was the product of unnecessarily suggestive circumstances arranged by government officials, such as law enforcement officers, and a very substantial likelihood of irreparable mistaken identification exists as a result of those suggestive circumstances. Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 197-198 (1972); see Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. 228, 232 (2012) (recognizing "a due process check on the admission of eyewitness identification" is applicable "when the police have arranged suggestive circumstances leading the witness to identify a particular person as the perpetrator of a crime"). In determining the admissibility of identification evidence, a court must conduct a two-prong inquiry into the matter. See Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199-200 (outlining the

necessary inquiry regarding out-of-court identifications and the factors to be weighed when determining reliability). That inquiry involves first ascertaining whether the identification process was unnecessarily and unduly suggestive and then determining whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. State v. Govan, 372 S.C. 552, 558, 643 S.E.2d 92, 95 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 426 (2012) (“Due process requires courts to assess, on a case-by-case basis, whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, and if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.”).

Pursuant to the proper analysis, it must first be determined whether the identification procedure used was both suggestive **and** unnecessary under the circumstances. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199-200; see United States v. Stevens, 935 F.2d 1380, 1389 (3rd Cir. 1991) (explaining the question of whether an identification procedure is unnecessarily suggestive depends on both its suggestiveness and necessity). In making such a determination, factors to consider include what procedure was employed, whether the utilized procedure was warranted by an emergency or the existence of exigent circumstances, and whether an alternative procedure could have practically been used that would have been less suggestive. See, e.g., Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 109 (1977) (recognizing the use of a single-person photographic lineup in the absence of an emergency or the existence of exigent circumstances was unnecessarily suggestive); Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 302 (1967) (finding the use of a single-person show-up was not unnecessarily suggestive where Stovall’s surviving victim was the only person who could exonerate or identify him, she was hospitalized at the time, and it was unclear whether she would ultimately survive her injuries).

In the event – and only in the event – an identification procedure is found to have been unnecessarily and unduly suggestive, it must then be determined whether the suggestiveness of the procedure resulted in a substantial likelihood of misidentification. Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426. Significantly, identification evidence may still be admissible if the State can prove by clear and convincing evidence the identification is reliable notwithstanding the suggestiveness of the identification procedure employed. Govan, 372 S.C. at 559, 643 S.E.2d at 95-96; see State v. Brown, 356 S.C. 496, 504, 589 S.E.2d 781, 785 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony.”). In determining whether the identification is reliable, a court must look to: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness’s degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness’s prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5) the amount of time between the crime and the identification. Govan, 372 S.C. at 559, 643 S.E.2d at 96; see also State v. Scipio, 283 S.C. 124, 127, 322 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1984) (“The reliability of an identification is determined by the facts.”). Upon examining those factors, a court ordinarily should admit identification evidence and allow the jury to determine its worth “if the indicia of reliability are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting effect of the police-arranged suggestive circumstances[.]” Perry, 565 U.S. at 232; see Harker v. Maryland, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1983) (instructing the exclusion of evidence is a “drastic sanction” and should be “limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect”).

Importantly though, due process concerns are only raised in cases in which government officials used an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure. See Perry, 565 U.S. at 232, n. 1 (“[W]hat triggers due process concerns is police use of an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure[.]”); see also Liverman, 398 S.C. at 140, 727 S.E.2d at 427 (recognizing

preliminary judicial inquiry regarding the reliability of identification evidence is only required when “it is contended that an identification is obtained under unnecessarily suggestive circumstances arranged by state action”). If no improper law enforcement activity is involved, there is no proper basis upon which to exclude identification evidence as there is nothing to deter, and the reliability of the identification evidence will be up to the jury to determine after the evidence is tested through the ordinary mechanisms of trial, including vigorous cross-examination. See Perry, 565 U.S. at 232-233 (“Our decisions . . . turn on the presence of state action and aim to deter police from rigging identification procedures, for example, at a lineup, showup, or photographic array. When no improper law enforcement activity is involved, we hold, it suffices to test reliability through the rights and opportunities generally designed for that purpose, notably, the presence of counsel at postindictment lineups, vigorous cross-examination, protective rules of evidence, and jury instructions on both the fallibility of eyewitness identification and the requirement that guilt be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” (footnote omitted)); see also State v. Brown, 38 Ohio St. 3d 305, 310-311, 528 N.E.2d 523, 533 (Ohio 1988) (“The rationale for excluding a tainted pretrial identification is to protect the defendant from misconduct by the state. In the facts before us, there was no state action. . . . The alleged suggestiveness of the identification, therefore, goes to weight and reliability of the testimony rather than admissibility.”); see generally Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236-237 (2011) (recognizing the exclusionary rule solely exists to deter future constitutional violations).

Notably, in State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 610-611, 527 S.E.2d 389, 391 (2000), this Court addressed a challenge to the admissibility of evidence of eyewitness identifications made after the witnesses saw Tisdale through a television broadcast and a newspaper article. In that case, Tisdale committed an armed robbery of a bank and was arrested later the same day after

officers tracked him down through their investigation into the incident. Id. at 610, 527 S.E.2d at 391. Following Tisdale's arrest, an officer assembled a photographic lineup to show to several bank employees present during the armed robbery. Id. However, before he could show the lineup to the witnesses, one of the employees notified him she believed Tisdale was the robber after seeing him on a television broadcast about his arrest while two other employees identified Tisdale as the robber after seeing his photograph in a newspaper article. Id. Tisdale was subsequently charged with several crimes, including armed robbery, and he proceeded forward to trial. Id. at 610-611, 527 S.E.2d at 391. During trial, Tisdale moved to suppress the identifications made by the bank employees, but the trial judge denied the motion and Tisdale was ultimately convicted of the charged crimes. Id. Tisdale then appealed his convictions, arguing the trial judge reversibly erred by denying his motion to suppress the identification evidence. Id. On appeal, this Court affirmed. Id. In affirming, this Court concluded the typical reliability analysis to be conducted when determining the admissibility of identification evidence was not applicable to Tisdale's case in light of the fact the identifications were made through the media without any law enforcement involvement. Id. at 612-613, 527 S.E.2d at 392. As a result, this Court held the trial judge committed no error by admitting the identification evidence during trial. Id. at 613, 527 S.E.2d at 392. Moreover, even assuming the typical reliability analysis was applicable to Tisdale's case, this Court concluded the identification evidence was nonetheless admissible under the totality of the circumstances in light of the fact the identifications were made less than twenty-four hours after the robbery, the witnesses had a good opportunity to observe the robber, and the witnesses were all certain of their identifications. Id. at 613-614, 527 S.E.2d at 393.

In the case sub judice, the trial judge committed no error by admitting the identification evidence during Appellant's trial because that evidence was not the product of any government action. That is true because, much like the eyewitnesses in Tisdale, the victim in Appellant's case identified Appellant not by taking part in a suggestive identification procedure arranged by law enforcement officers but, instead, by viewing Appellant's mugshot through the media and the internet. Importantly, nothing suggested the police officers investigating the armed robbery encouraged Victim to watch a news broadcast, read a newspaper, or search the internet in order to identify the robber, and nothing was presented indicating any of the officers attempted to influence or manipulate the media coverage of the brazen toy store robbery committed by Appellant. Instead, Victim specifically testified the police did not seek to have her participate in an identification procedure, and she personally decided to notify them when she identified Appellant as the robber through her own independent actions. Under those circumstances, **no** out-of-court identification procedure was employed or involved in Appellant's case, and, therefore, Victim's identification of Appellant as the robber simply was not the product of an identification procedure, including one that was unnecessarily and unduly suggestive. Cf. State v. Smith, 681 So. 2d 980, 986 (La. Ct. App. 1996) ("The viewing of television news coverage of a defendant's arrest is not an 'identification procedure.' " (citation omitted)). As a result, Appellant's due process rights were not implicated or violated by Victim's out-of-court or in-court identifications of Appellant, and the trial judge properly allowed the identification evidence to be admitted during trial. See Tisdale, 338 S.C. at 613, 527 S.E.2d at 392 ("[B]ecause the police were not involved in the media identifications in this case, the trial judge did not err in allowing the tellers' identification testimony."); see also United States v. Sharpe, 193 F.3d 852, 868 (5th Cir. 1999) (rejecting a due process challenge to the admission of identification evidence

where the witness saw the defendant in a newspaper photograph prior to alerting the authorities and identifying the defendant in the courtroom because the witness's encounter with the photograph was unexpected, unplanned, and not arranged by the police); State v. Goudeau, 239 Ariz. 421, 456, 372 P.3d 945, 980 (Ariz. 2016) (“[A]lthough police disseminated Goudeau’s composite sketch and photo to the media, there is no evidence that police attempted to influence any of these witnesses’ pretrial identifications, for example, by arranging for or encouraging victims to view the media coverage. Consequently, even if the media coverage played a role in the victims’ identifications of Goudeau – an issue disputed by the State and the victims – the State was not sufficiently responsible for the coverage to require a reliability determination.” (citations omitted)); Williams v. State, 253 Ga. App. 458, 465, 559 S.E.2d 516, 523 (Ga. Ct. App. 2002) (“In this case, there is no evidence that the police or any other state actors were involved with either televising Williams’s arrest or otherwise suggesting an identification to the witnesses. Beyond that, issues of witness credibility are for the trier of fact, and matters such as the basis for a witness’s identification of Williams and the witness’s ability to observe him at the crime scene were subjects for cross-examination and did not require that the identification testimony be excluded.” (citations omitted)); Norris v. State, 265 Ind. 508, 512-513, 356 N.E.2d 204, 206 (Ind. 1976) (“[S]ince newspapers are free to print what they feel is appropriate, it is difficult to imagine how this type of witness-accused contact can be avoided, and no legitimate purpose would be served by subjecting the witness’ subsequent in-court identification testimony to possible exclusion. . . . Any suggestion implanted in the witness’ mind by seeing a suspect’s photograph in the newspaper should go to the weight, and not the admissibility of the in-court identification.”); Commonwealth v. Colon-Cruz, 408 Mass. 533, 542, 562 N.E.2d 797, 805 (Mass. 1990) (“If police have not in any way manipulated press reports, then simple exposure to

the media is not sufficient ground to suppress an identification.”); State v. Webster, 166 N.H. 783, 789, 104 A.3d 203, 208 (N.H. 2014) (“Although law enforcement may have disseminated the photograph to the media, absent evidence that law enforcement also orchestrated the viewing of that photograph by a witness, there is no state action within the meaning of Biggers.”).

Critically though, even assuming an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure had somehow been employed, the identification evidence would nonetheless have been admissible during trial as no substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed under the circumstances of Appellant’s case. Looking to the relevant circumstances, Victim had an excellent opportunity to view Appellant during the course of the robbery because nothing was presented suggesting the robber ever wore a mask, the incident occurred during the middle of the day, and Victim had a long period of time in which to observe the robber’s face both before and during the robbery from just a few feet away. Cf. State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 128, 644 S.E.2d 693, 697 (2007) (finding identification evidence to be reliable where the victim had an ample opportunity to view her assailant at the time of the crime and had a “full facial view of him while he asked her questions”). Additionally, Victim’s attention was heightened due to the fact she was a victim of an armed robbery, was threatened with a gun, and was physically assaulted by the robber. See Govan, 372 at 560, 643 S.E.2d at 96 (recognizing a victim’s attention would have been heightened during an armed robbery); State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 252, 525 S.E.2d 535, 541-542 (Ct. App. 1999) (“A person in fear of his life presumably has a more acute degree of attention to his surroundings than a mere passerby.”). Likewise, Victim provided descriptions of the robbers after the crime, and nothing was presented suggesting her descriptions were inaccurate. Cf. State v. Frazier, 394 S.C. 213, 222, 715 S.E.2d 650, 654 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding an out-of-court identification to be sufficiently reliable even though the witness did not

provide a description of Frazier's physical appearance); Govan, 372 S.C. at 555, 643 S.E.2d at 93-94 (finding an out-of-court identification to be sufficiently reliable based on the consistency of the prior description even though the description of the suspect was simply "a black guy in a long black jacket and black hat (or rag)"); State v. Johnson, 311 S.C. 132, 134, 427 S.E.2d 718, 719 (Ct. App. 1993) (finding identification evidence to be reliable even though the victim described the robber as wearing a ski jacket and cap and Johnson was not wearing a jacket or hat when he was apprehended). Furthermore, Victim immediately recognized Appellant as the robber upon seeing him through the media and internet, she expressed absolute certainty in her identification, and she was still certain of her identification by the time of trial. Cf. Frazier, 394 S.C. at 222, 715 S.E.2d at 654 ("Although Sanders's description of Frazier's jacket was incorrect, she demonstrated a high degree of certainty in her identification during the show-up."). Finally, Victim identified Appellant as the robber within just a few days of the incident, which meant only a brief period of time elapsed between the robbery and her identification. See United States v. Jones, 454 F.3d 642, 650 (7th Cir. 2006) (concluding "nine days is a relatively short delay" when determining the reliability of identification evidence); United States v. Downs, 230 F.3d 272, 275 (7th Cir. 2000) ("[F]ive days between the incident and the line-up is not such a long span of time that memory lapses would be a problem."). When considering the totality of those circumstances, the identification evidence in Appellant's case was sufficiently reliable such that there was no substantial likelihood of misidentification, and, thus, the trial judge committed no error by admitting that evidence even assuming its reliability needed to be analyzed prior to its admission. See Tisdale, 338 S.C. at 614-615, 527 S.E.2d at 393 (finding the identification evidence was properly admitted where the circumstances surrounding the out-of-court identifications supported a finding the evidence was reliable); see also Perry, 565 U.S. at 245

("[T]he jury, not the judge, traditionally determines the reliability of evidence."); Brown, 356 S.C. at 504, 589 S.E.2d at 785 ("Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony.").

In conclusion, because no identification procedure was employed in Appellant's case and because no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed under the totality of the circumstances, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by declining to employ the drastic remedy of suppressing the identification evidence, and the question of the reliability of the identification evidence was properly left for the jury to decide. See Harker, 800 F.2d at 443 ("The exclusion of evidence from the jury is . . . a drastic sanction, one that is limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect."); see also Perry, 565 U.S. at 232 ("[T]he reliability of relevant testimony typically falls within the province of the jury to determine. . . . [I]f the indicia of reliability are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting effect of the police-arranged suggestive circumstances, the identification evidence ordinarily will be admitted, and the jury will ultimately determine its worth."); cf. State v. Washington, 323 S.C. 106, 112, 473 S.E.2d 479, 482 (1996) ("Because the jury had the opportunity to observe the witness and attach the credibility it deemed proper to his testimony, including the certainty or uncertainty of his identification, the identification is not unreliable."). Accordingly, the trial judge committed no error by admitting the identification evidence during trial, and Appellant's due process rights were in no way violated by that evidentiary decision.<sup>4</sup> See Govan, 372 S.C. at 556, 643 S.E.2d at

---

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